# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

 $\mathbf{v}_{\bullet}$ 

### MAUA SIAMUPENI MUASAU, Appellant.

### **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

Carol A. Elewski, WSBA # 33647 Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 4459 Tumwater, WA 98501 (360) 570-8339

####

#### II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

#### A. Assignment of Error

- 1. The superior court erred in allowing the issue of Mr. Muasau's guilt on the harassment charge to go to the jury when the evidence was insufficient to convict as a matter of law.
- 2. The superior court erred in allowing the issue of Mr. Muasau's guilt on the assault charge to go to the jury when the evidence was insufficient to convict as a matter of law.
- 3. The superior court erred in allowing the issue of Mr. Muasau's guilt on the burglary charge to go to the jury when the evidence was insufficient to convict as a matter of law.
- 4. The superior court erred in permitting Mr. Muasau to be sentenced in violation of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel.

#### B. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. When the evidence showed Mr. Muasau said "smoke 'em" to a coparticipant in the presence of the victim, did the State fail to prove he a) subjectively knew he was communicating a threat and b) communicated a threat to cause harm "in the future" as required by the court's jury instructions, thus failing to prove the felony harassment charge?
- 2. When the evidence showed Mr. Muasau hit a victim on the cheek with his fist without leaving a mark, but failed to establish the circumstances under which the hit was made, including the force used, whether it was intentional, or how the victim reacted to the hit, did the State fail to prove assault by an intentional touching that would have been offensive to an ordinary person?
- 3. When the evidence showed Mr. Muasau unlawfully entered the victims' trailer with the intention of retrieving a coparticipant's belongings, but the State failed to prove he either entered the trailer with criminal intent or committed a crime

inside the trailer, did the State fail to prove Mr.
Muasau guilty of burglary in the first degree?

4. Was Mr. Muasau's trial counsel ineffective in failing to argue that his burglary and harassment convictions and his burglary and assault convictions encompassed the same criminal conduct when the convictions required the same criminal intent, were committed at the same time and place, and involved the same victim?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

By information filed in Pierce County on August 9, 2010, the State charged Mr. Muasau with the following crimes, all alleged to have been committed on August 8, 2010: 1) burglary in the first degree committed while he or an accomplice was armed with a rifle, a deadly weapon, in violation of RCW 9A.52.020(1)(a) and adding additional time to the presumptive sentence as provided in RCW 9.94A.530; 2) felony harassment, committed by knowingly threatening to kill Rusty Parrott, in violation of RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b) and RCW

9A.46.020(1)(a)(i)(b); and 3) assault in the fourth degree, in violation of RCW 9A.36.041(1) and 9A.36.041(2). Clerk's Papers (CP) 1-2.

Coparticipants Damos Handsom, Michael Smith, and Cody Davis were also charged with the burglary, among other crimes. Mr. Muasau, Handsom and Smith were tried together; Davis entered a guilty plea and testified as a defense witness at trial. Verbatim Report of Proceedings for Trial and Sentencing (TRP) & TRP 438-71 (Davis's testimony).

Mr. Muasau was convicted of all crimes following a six-day jury trial held between July 20 and July 28, 2011, the Honorable John R. Hickman presiding. CP 37-39. In addition, the jury found he or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon during the burglary. CP 40. Handsom and Smith were also convicted of the charged crimes. CP 173, 174, 397-99.

On August 26, 2011, the court imposed concurrent sentences of 100 months for the burglary and 60 months for the felony harassment, with a deadly weapon sentence enhancement of 24 months. CP 98. In

calculating his offender score for the burglary conviction, Mr. Muasau was awarded one point for the felony harassment conviction. CP 89-91. His trial counsel did not argue that the harassment constituted the same criminal conduct as the burglary. See TRP 679-94.

Mr. Muasau filed a timely notice of appeal on August 26, 2011. CP 72-85.

#### B. Substantive Facts

At the time of the incident, Bill Edmiston lived with Rusty Parrot in Parrott's Lakewood, Washington trailer home. TRP 149, 215. Parrott's cousin, Cody Davis, the son of Edmiston's girlfriend, stayed in the trailer for a short time that summer. TRP 150, 217. Shortly before the incident, Parrott got fed up with Davis and told him to leave. TRP 150, 217.

Around this time, Davis was becoming delusional.

Among other things, he accused his mother and Edmiston of murdering his father, who was still alive. TRP 151-52; 182. He also told them he could set off a bomb with a button he could control from the backseat of their

car. TRP 184. He believed his mother was not his mother. TRP 152, 184. He thought there was gold in her car. TRP 249. He believed there was gold that his father had left him in Parrott's trailer. TRP 448.

Davis attributed his confused mental state to the fact that he had begun doing drugs again. TRP 444.

When Davis moved out of Parrott's trailer, he did not leave any personal belongings behind. TRP 152, 218. However, he thought he did. TRP 242, 446. In particular, he believed there was gold in the walls of the bedroom he had used. TRP 244-45.

The night of the incident, Davis called Handsom to help him get his things from the trailer. TRP 446-47.

The only reason Davis went to the trailer was to get his personal belongings and leave. TRP 454. Handsom enlisted his friend, Smith. TRP 454. Handsom and Smith drove, picking up Davis along the way. TRP 458-59. Mr. Muasau only ended up in the car because he happened to call Davis that night and ask for a ride. TRP 451, 460.

When the men got to the trailer, Davis stood outside the door, saying he wanted to get his things.

TRP 154, 183, 185, 220-21. Thinking there might be trouble, and unwilling to let the men in, Edmiston locked the doors to the trailer and went to block the back door. TRP 153-54.

As Edmiston was trying to hold the back door closed, Mr. Muasau ran at him down the hallway. TRP 154, 160-61 (Edmiston and Parrott sometimes refer to "the big guy;" Edmiston identified the big guy as Muasau). The intruders grabbed Edmiston and Parrott and, at qunpoint, made them get on their hands and knees in the back hallway near the washer and dryer. Mr. Muasau asked for the gold bars and wanted to know where the safe was. TRP 154-56, 161, 231. But see TRP 222-23 (Parrott testified Edmiston left the back door to quard the front door and Parrott was holding the back door shut when Davis and three other men escorted Edmiston down the hallway); TRP 286 other evidence indicated the men had broken in the front door); and TRP 462, 485-86 (Davis said he kicked in the back door, let Handsom in through the front door, Smith followed Davis through the back and Muasau stayed in the car).

The intruders all wore black; Handsom and Smith wore masks; Handsom was carrying an AK-47 and wearing a bullet proof vest; one man appeared to be holding a pistol. TRP 158-59, 223-24, 457, 463-64. Neither Mr. Muasau nor Davis was wearing a mask or carrying a weapon. TRP 157-58, 224, 229.

When Parrott tried to call 911, Mr. Muasau grabbed the phone and smashed it on the floor or the wall. TRP 162, 224. According to Parrott, Mr. Muasau then said: "I know you did it. I know you called them. Smoke 'em. Telling his buddies to smoke us." TRP 225. Parrott thought "smoke 'em" meant kill them, or him, and took the threat seriously, fearing for his life. TRP 225.

While the two armed intruders kept Parrott and Edmiston on their knees at gunpoint, TRP 163 & 228-29, Mr. Muasau and Davis went into the bedroom where Davis had stayed and tore the room apart, looking for gold. TRP 162, 173-75, 191, 234.

At some point during the incident, while Parrot and Edmiston were on their hands and knees on the floor, Mr. Muasau hit Parrott once on his cheek with

his fist. TRP 161, 171-72, 231-32 (Parrott testified "the big guy" hit him). Parrot did not testify as to why or when he was hit or how he felt about it. TRP 231-32. Edmiston stated: "Eventually Cody and [Mr. Muasau] had come out of the back room, and [Mr. Muasau] had hit Rusty in the side of the head." TRP 161. After describing how he himself was hit in the head with a pistol, Edmiston stated: "But other than that, there wasn't really no confrontation in the hallway." TRP 161. The hit left no bruises or marks on Parrott. TRP 232, 292.

The intruders left before the police arrived without taking anything. TRP 193, 196-97.

A neighbor saw the men trying to kick in the trailer door and called 911. TRP 266; Exh. 58A. Police arrived just as a car was pulling out of the trailer's driveway. TRP 274, 276, 357, 359, 360. Police stopped the car and removed Davis, Mr. Muasau, Smith and Handsom. TRP 276, 279, 281, 361.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Point I: The Evidence at Trial Was Insufficient to
Prove Mr. Muasau Knowingly Threatened to
Cause Harm to Parrott in the Future,
Intentionally Hit Parrott in an Offensive
Manner, or Entered or Remained in the Trailer
with the Intent to Commit a Crime

The evidence at trial was insufficient as a matter of law to prove Mr. Muasau guilty of the charged crimes. A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence requires the Court to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. The relevant question is whether any rational fact finder could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Hosier, 157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 (2006); State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). In claiming insufficient evidence, the defendant admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from it: "All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant." Hosier, 157 Wn.2d at 8; Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

## A. The State Failed to Prove Felony Harassment When it did Not Prove Mr. Muasau "Knowingly" Threatened to Cause Harm "in the Future."

To prove the charged criminal harassment in this case, the State was required to prove that Mr. Muasau, without lawful authority, knowingly threatened to kill Parrott and his words or conduct placed Parrot in reasonable fear that the threat would be carried out. CP 59 (Jury Instruction No. 16); RCW 9A.46.020; State v. J.M., 144 Wn.2d 472, 476, 28 P.3d 720 (2001) (setting forth elements of crime).

While the information and to-convict instruction stated that the threat was to kill Parrot "immediately or in the future," CP 1-2 & CP 59, the instruction defining "threat" specified: "Threat means to communicate, directly or indirectly, the intent to cause bodily injury in the future." CP 60 (Jury Instruction No. 17) (instruction also contained true threat language); RCW 9A.04.110(28).

In this case, the State failed to prove Mr. Muasau knowingly threatened Parrott and, to the extent a threat existed, it did not satisfy the definitional

jury instruction as it was not a threat to cause harm in the future.

The State failed to prove Mr. Muasau knowingly threatened Parrott. To satisfy the "knowingly" element of the harassment statute, the State must prove, inter alia, Mr. Muasau subjectively knew he was communicating a threat. J.M., 144 Wn.2d 472, 481 (holding the defendant need not know the threat would be communicated to the victim). In this case, however, there was no such evidence of Mr. Muasau's subjective knowledge.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, when Mr. Muasau said "smoke 'em," he was suggesting his coparticipants kill Parrott. He meant it as a suggestion or direction. By contrast, a threat is neither a suggestion nor a direction, but the communication of an intent, CP 60, such as "I am going to kill you." See, e.g., J.M., 144 Wn.2d 472, 474-75 (juvenile said he was going to return with a friend and "do that" at his school, referring to the then-recent shooting at Columbine High School); State v. Allen, 161 Wn. App. 727, 255 P.3d 784 (2011) ("I'm going to kill

you"); State v. Atkins, 156 Wn. App. 799, 236 P.3d 897 (2010) (defendant "stood there screaming he was going to kill" victim). As a result, in this case, the State may have proved Mr. Muasau had the subjective knowledge he was communicating a suggestion, but it failed to prove he subjectively knew he was communicating a threat. Accordingly, this Court should reverse Mr. Muasau's conviction.

Next, the State failed to prove Mr. Muasau uttered a threat as defined in the jury instructions. The jury instructions defined "threat" to warn specifically of a future injury: "Threat means to communicate, directly or indirectly, the intent to cause bodily injury in the future." CP 60 (Jury Instruction No. 17). While the statute permits a threat to refer to immediate or future actions, jury instructions that are not objected to are treated as the properly applicable law for purposes of appeal. State v. Willis, 153 Wn.2d 366, 374-75, 103 P.3d 1213 (2005) (holding unobjected-to omission of "or an accomplice" language in firearm enhancement instruction required State to prove defendant himself was armed); State v. Hickman, 135

Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) (under law of the case doctrine, State was required to prove elements of robbery set forth in jury instruction which added the unnecessary element of venue); State v. Nam, 136 Wn. App. 698, 706-707, 150 P.3d 617 (2007) (relying on Hickman to hold when "or presence" language was omitted from robbery jury instruction, State was required to prove the taking was from the victim's person). Accordingly, law of the case doctrine requires the State to have proved Mr. Muasau threatened to cause bodily injury in the future.

That the State failed to prove a future intention is established by cases decided before the harassment statute was amended to permit threats to involve immediate harm. In <a href="City of Seattle v. Allen">City of Seattle v. Allen</a>, 80 Wn. App. 824, 911 P.2d 1354 (1996), for example, the court reversed a defendant's conviction for misdemeanor harassment when the defendant, while robbing a store, shouted he "had a gun, he was going to shoot," and said "he was going to shoot us if we didn't do what we was

told." *Id.* at 826. He told another victim he was going to shoot him because he did not follow instructions. *Id.* at 827.

Under these circumstances, the court held the State did not prove the crime, which required a threat to cause harm in the future. It stated, the defendant's "threats to shoot [one victim] because he didn't do what [the defendant] had told him to do and to shoot [the other victim] if he failed to do what [the defendant] told him were threats to cause immediate bodily injury. This evidence is insufficient to prove a threat to cause bodily injury in the future." See also, State v. Austin, 65 Wn. App. 759, 831 P.2d 747 (1992) (holding the statement, "[c]ome on, boy, let's fight" while pulling out a knife was not a statement of future harm).

<sup>1.</sup> The relevant statute in <u>Allen</u>, similar to the definitional instruction in this case, required the State to prove, *inter alia*, "Without lawful authority, the person knowingly threaten[ed] . . . To cause bodily injury *in the future* to the person threatened or to any other person." <u>Allen</u>, 80 Wn. App. 824, 828 (emphasis in original). The term "or immediately" was added to the statute by the Laws of 1997.

Similarly, in this case the State only proved a threat to cause immediate harm, not harm in the future as required by the jury instructions and law of the case. "Smoke 'em," even more than "I have a gun, I'm going to shoot," implies instantaneous action, not action in the future. For these reasons, the State failed to prove felony harassment as charged to the jury and this Court should reverse Mr. Muasau's conviction for this crime.

## B. The State Failed to Prove Mr. Muasau Assaulted Parrott with an Intentional, Offensive Touching.

When the evidence only showed Mr. Muasau hit
Parrott once on his cheek, the State failed to
establish an intentional, offensive touching. The jury
was instructed as to the three common law definitions
of assault and the State relied on the first
definition: an intentional touching or striking that
would be harmful or offensive to an ordinary person who
was not unduly sensitive, regardless of the physical
injury caused. CP 65 (Jury Instruction No. 22); TRP
594-95. However, the trial testimony failed to

establish either that Mr. Muasau acted intentionally or that the hit was offensive.

First, the State failed to prove the hit was intentional. Parrott testified "the big guy" hit him once on the cheek. He did not testify as to why or when he was hit or whether it seemed that it was an intentional, rather than an accidental touching. He did not indicate the hit was done as punishment for failing to follow orders or to induce him to comply with any direction, but merely that he was hit. TRP 231-32. Edmiston similarly failed to establish an intentional strike, merely stating Mr. Muasau "had hit Rusty in the side of the head." TRP 161. Indeed the hit could easily have been accidental as Parrott was on his knees in the hallway when he was struck with Mr. Muasau's fist. Under these circumstances, the State failed to prove an intentional act and this Court should reverse Mr. Muasau's conviction.

In addition, the State failed to prove the touching was offensive, or would have been offensive to an ordinary person. The hit left no bruises or marks on Parrott. TRP 232, 292. Parrott did not describe

disliking the hit, being offended by it, or feeling any pain or injury. There was no description of the force of the hit, whether it was a glancing strike, a direct hit or a soft hit. The evidence was simply that he was hit on the cheek with a fist and no mark was made.

Without more, the State failed to prove the hit would have been offensive to an ordinary person and this Court should reverse Mr. Muasau's conviction.

## C. The State Failed to Prove Mr. Muasau Entered or Remained in a Building with Intent to Commit a Crime Against a Person or Property Therein.

When the State failed to prove Mr. Muasau committed a crime in the trailer, it also failed to prove the burglary as charged. To establish the burglary in this case, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Muasau or an accomplice entered or remained unlawfully in a building, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, and that he or another participant in the crime was armed with a deadly weapon. CP 52 (Jury Instruction No. 9); RCW 9A.52.020; see State v. Dow, 162 Wn. App. 324, 330, 253 P.3d 476 (2011) (reciting elements of first degree burglary by

commission of assault). The State bears "the burden of proving every element of burglary, including criminal intent." State v. Cantu, 156 Wn.2d 819, 825, 132 P.3d 725 (2006) (discussing RCW 9A.52.040, which allows a permissive inference of criminal intent from an unlawful entry).

As Mr. Muasau has shown above, the State failed to prove he committed a crime in Parrott's trailer. Thus, not only did it fail to prove Mr. Muasau remained in the trailer with criminal intent but, as explained below, it also failed to prove he entered the trailer with such intent. Entering a dwelling unlawfully to retrieve one's belongings is not the same as entering with unlawful intent. In State v. Woods, 63 Wn. App. 588, 821 P.2d 1235 (1991), a boy was temporarily living away from home, barred from returning in the absence of his mother. At a time when the mother was not usually at home, he and his friend, the charged juvenile, tried to open the door with the boy's key, were stymied by a new lock, and proceeded to kick in the door. The purpose of entering the home was to retrieve a jacket and get bus fare. All the boy's belongings were still

in his former bedroom. The boys ran away when the mother surprised them with her presence and yelled at them. 63 Wn. App. 588, 589-90.

Division 1 held the entry to be unlawful, but found the evidence failed to support criminal intent. The only direct evidence of intent was the juvenile's testimony of the intent to retrieve a jacket. Moreover, indirect evidence of intent failed to support a criminal intent when nothing was stolen, the boy could have had bus fare in his room and the boys could have fled out of fear of the mother's anger, not knowledge of guilt. 63 Wn. App. 588, 591-92. Further, the court declined to find that the violent entry was relevant to the intent behind the entry. Id.

Similarly, in this case, although there was an unlawful, forced entry, no criminal intent was established. Analogous to what happened in <u>Woods</u>, here the men entered Parrott's trailer with a lawful purpose: to retrieve Davis's gold. That the purpose was the product of Davis's delusional mind does not matter so long as the men actually believed they had a lawful purpose. Similar to <u>Woods</u>, here nothing was stolen.

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