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

C. ARGUMENT.

SMITITS TIME, FOR TRJAL WAS NOT

VIOLATED WHENTIff"FRJAL COURT

GR I ED III" 1) EFI -'-NIID, kNTT S SIHTTEIMBER

16, 20 10 REQUS'FE FOR A CO T1 LANCE.

An appellate court reviews a trial court'.-, decision to grant a

continuance under CrR 33(t)(2) for abuse of discretion. State v.

Downing, 151 Wn.2d 265, 272, 87 P.3d 1169 (2004). It will not disturb a

trial court's decision unless the appellant makes "a clear showing .. [ that

the trial court's] discretion [is] manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on

untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons," kd., (quoting Si ate e- reL

Carroll v . funker, 79 Wn.2d 12 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971)). It is not an

abuse< of discretion to continue a trial date to permit defense counsel

additional time to prepare for trial, to ensure effective assistance of

counsel. See State v, Williams, 104 Wn, App, 516, 523, 17 P.3d 648

2001), The continuance may be granted over the defendant's personal

objection. State v. Campbell, 10 Wn-2d 1, 15, 691 P,2d 929 (1984).

j_ T I Inder CrR 313(f)(2), "the court may continue the trial date to a

pec.iiied date when such continuances required in the administration of

10-



justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his

or her defense," Under Cry. 33(b)(5), "[i]fany period of time is excluded

pursuant to section (e), the allowable time for trial shal I not expire earlierer

than 30 days after the end of that excluded period.' Under CrR 3.3"e)(3),

continuances are excluded from computing time for trial,

Dismissal cif Charges for an alleged time for trial violation is

mandated "only, when the applicable speedy trial period has expired,"'

State v. Hall, 55 Wn. App, 834, 840 -- -841, 780 RIM 1337 (1989), 1

court in Hall explained that, "absent such a violation, i defendant must

demonstrate actual prejudice to obtain dismissal." Id. at 84 See also

State v. Raschka, 124 Wn. App. 103, 112, 100 P. 3d' 339 (2004)

emphasizing that the Hall ruling pertains to the standard of proof required

for dismissal when continuances have been granted ivithin the time for

trial period).

In the present case, the motion to dismiss was not raised below and

now is raised for the first time on appeal. The Court of Appeals will not

consider an issue raised for the - first time on appeal unless it involves a

manifest error affecting a constitutional right, RAP 41 .5(a.), see State v.

Brewer, 148 Wn. App. 666,673, 2.05 P,3d 900 (2009), Here, defendant

has not demonstrated that the September 16, 2010 Continuance entered

7 HaY cited to former CrR -').3(:' ). The staoute is now labeled as CrR 33(1). The relevant
port are substantively the same,



within the time for trial was error when it was brought by defendant's

attornev on defendant's behalf and entered within the time for trial.

Consequently, the September 16, 2010 continuance cannot affect

defendant's constitutional rights. The motion to dismiss should not be

considered far the first time on appeal.

Furthemiore, defendant's Septernber 16, 201 order for

continuance was entered within the time for trial period. Defendant's time

for trial began to run when he was charged, on August 9, 201 O; CP 258—

259, Defendant was being held in custody, so the State had 60 days to

bring defendant to trial pursuant to CrR 13(b). 9;1.6/2010 Rip. 2, On

September 16, 213 when defendant's counsel asked for a continuance,

defendant's case was 38 days old. SC'? 267, It was not error for the trial

court to enter the order for continuance when it was entered within the

time for trial.

17he physical copy of the September 16, 2010 order for continuance

contains a scrivener's en-or. Scrivener'-, errors are clerical errors that are

the result of mistake or inadvertence, especially in writing or copying

something on the record. They are not errors of udicial reasoning or

determination. See Blau 's Law Dictionay, 582, 1375 (8th ed. 1999).

The to-, box of the continuance form indicates the the continuance is

brought "upon agreement of the parties pursuant to CrR3 ).3(fi(1)[...]."

Just below the top box, is a box that indicates that the continuance I's

brought because it "is required in the administration ofjustice pursuant to
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CrR 3,3(f)(2) and the defendant will not be prejudiced in his defense

j...].''" In the present case, the top box was inadvertently checked instead

of the middle box. However. the record is clear that the continuance was

brought in the administration ofJustice and not upon agreement of the

parties to Cr.R 33(f)(1). This is evident given that defendant argues on.

appeal that he did not agree to the September 16, 2010 continuance

because lie did not sign it. Brief of Smith, pages 12-13. Therefore, the

continuance could not have been brought pursuant to agreement of the

parties pursuant. to CrR ' ).3(1 wh6ch requires a defendant's signature.

Before the court granted the September 16, 2010 order for continuance,

defendant and his counsel admitted that more time was needed to prepare

a defense. 9/16/2010 PJ 4, The trial court heard from both parties before

granting the continuance. The. order for continuance was entered in the

administration ofJustice and did not require defendant's signature.

Because the disputed continuance falls ivithin the time for trial

period, defendant must demonstrate actual prejudice to obtain dismissal,

Hall, 55 Wn, App, at 134E --- £141. Defendant does not -attempt to

demonstrate that he incurred prqJudice as a result of the September 16

order fir continuance. In - fact., the record reveals that defendant may have

been prejudiced without the order 1br continuance. Defendant's counsel

made note that defendant eras facing his third strike offense, and counsel

requested additional time to prepare, negotiate, and investigate on behalf

13 -



of defendant. 
1
9/16/2-010 RP 4, SCR 267, Defendant even agreed thathiS

attorney needed more time to prepare, and defendant's counsel was

unclear as to whether defendant was actually objecting or opposing the

continuance. 9 %16, %2010 RP 4, Moreover, after the September 16, 2010

continuance was entered, defendant brought a continuance on *November

15,2010, which hesigned. 11,/15/2010 RP2;CP2()9, Defendaritthen

brought a continuance on January 4, 2011, which he signed. CP 2

Defendant also brought and signed a continuance on February 14, 2011

CP 275. Given that defendant asked - for and signed three contirtuances

in following the disputed September 16, 2010 continuance, it is

difficult to see how his defense could be prejudiced by the trial court's

entering of the September 16, 2010 order for continuance.

Defendant relies upon- two cases, aStale v. Adamski, 11 I Wn.2d

574, 761 P.2d62l(1988), and' . Matte t , , Kindsvogel, 149 Wn.2d 477,69

P3d 870 "2001), for the proposition that `failure to strictly comply withk -

the speedy trial rule requires dismissal, regardless of whether the

defendant can show prejudice." Briefof Smith, page 14. Adainski is

distinguishable and the defense fails to provide proper context for its

application in the case at hand. The court in Adam-Oi granted review only

Smith was cin notice ear"v in the tr;at that he was facing potontial third strike. Smith
R-P 702. Smith's att-orney Presented a rin'tigation packet which the State considered';
however, both parties were ijtnaNe to reach a reso and Snith chose to exercise his
riaht to a Jury trial. Smith RP ?0'/---?
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For defendant's continuance that was entered oulskle of the time for trial

period, M. at 576 577. Here, the disputed continuance was entered insitle

of the time for trial period'. SCP 267, Thus, the scope of the argument

considered in Ada inski is limited to the presupposition that defendant's

time for trial right had already been violated, Here, no such

presupposition is present.

Tlie courts̀ ruling in AdamAi was further limited to violations of a

defendant's time for trial right, "caused by the State's failure to exercise

due diligence Icy. at 579 Even assuming arguendo that defendant's time

for trial right in the present case' had been violated, [lie continuance had

nothing to do with the Mate's due diligence. In r4ricsmsk , the € ontinuance

was requested by the Mate because an essential witness was not present.

Id. at X76, Here, the continuance was requested by the defense.

9/16/2010 RP 4, SUIT 267.

Furthermore, Adams i has been distinguished by case law. fn

Mate v, Bible, 77 Wn. App, 470, 473, 992 P 2d 116 (1995), tl €e defendant

relied upon Ada ski to argue that his case should be dismissed with

prejudice. The court in Wilde made the following distinctions:

The Adamski court was interpreting a Juvenile Criminal
Rule which required that the Mate exercise "due diligence"
before a continuance be granted, C:rR 3.3 (h)(2), which
describes the circa €instances under which a continuance may
be granted in an adult proceeding, only requires findings
than a continuance is necessary for the administration of
justice and will not substantially prejudice the defense, Ctrl
33(h)(2).
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The ruting in Adanuki is based upon an analysis of JuCR. 7,8 and should

not be broadly interpreted to apply in this case.

Defendant also relies upon State v. Kindsvogel, 149 Wn.2d 477, 69

P, )d 870 (2003) to support the claim that "fallure to strictly comply with

the speedy trial rule requires dismissal, regarefiess ofi-Mether the

41e/ndanf cansho Briel'of Smith, page 14 (emphasis

added), Defendant misstates the law set forth inKinelsvogel, The couft in

Kinefsvogel does not posit that dismissal is required re.gw s Qfa

showin9ofj?rejudice; rather, the court states that "failure to comply with

the rule [CrR 3.3] requires dismissal," M at 482, The court in Kindsvogel

never addressed whether defendant was required to demonstrate prejudice

and the record contains no evidence of any continuances. 
9

Kindsvogel

does not analyze the facts of the case under CrR1 the rule governing

instances in which continuances may be granted, Id, Kindsvogel is thus

not instructive to the case-at-hand,

The trial court is entitled to use its discretion in gyanting a

continux-ice requested by defense counsel in behalf of defe.ndant,

Campbell, 103 Wn.2d at 14-15. In light of the charged offense being

defendant's third strike, defense counsel requested additional time to

9 The isstw in Kindspogel was whether an assault in the fourth degree charge should have
been wined with a possession of marijuana charge for purposes of deterplinin tirne for
tria.1 tirne Nunim Id. Here, defendant was charged with btirglary in the First degree and
assault in the fbtxth dearee on the same date, SCP 258-259. Furthermore, it is not
divured that boCq charges began to run on the carne date.
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prepare a competent defense, 9/1.6/2010 RII 4, SCP 26 Because the

September 16, 201 order for continuance was brought within the time for

trial, defendant is required to demonstrate prejudice to obtain dismissat

Defendant has riot proven that he incurred prejudice. The trial court did

not error in entering the continuance requested by defense counsel. "

12, THER-E Sri AS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE
JURY TO FrN-D DEFENDANIFSHANDSON-1AND

MUASAl-)JG'U`.l*L*I'Y'OF BU'RGLARY INITHE

FIRST DEGREE,

Due process requires the State to prove each and every element of

the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt, State P. Mably, 51 Wn.

App. 24,25,751 P.2d 882 (1988). The applicable standard of review is

whether, after viewhig the evidence in the light most &vorable to the

State, any rational trier of fact could haNe found the essential element of

the crime beyond a reasonable dotibt. State v. Hqffinan, 116 Wn.2d 51,

804 P,2d 577 (1991). Also, a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence

admits the truth of the State's evidence and any reasonable inferences

from it, State v. Barrington, 52 Wn, App, 478, 484, 761 P.2d 632 (1987),

review denied, 111 Wm2d 1033 (1988) (citing State v. Holbrook, 66

Wn-2d 278, 401 P.2d 971 (1965 V), see also State v. Turner, 29 Wn. App.

282, 290, 627 P.2d 1323 (1981). All reasonable inferences from the

Because the older for continuance was during the time for trial and was validly entered,
the State does not need to address appeflant's argument point "b" as it is not app
Brief lo f Smith, pages 13-14
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evidence mu be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted € ost strongly

agai the appellant. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 2 €I1, 829 P,2d

1 068 ( 1992). In the case of conflicting evidence or evidence where

reasonable: minds might differ, the jury is the one to weigh the evidence,

determine. credibility of witnesses and decide disputed questions of fact..

Bath circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable, State v

L,rabers, 81 Wn. App. 614, 619, 915 P.2d 1157 (1996). State v. Theraf,

25 Wm Ap13. 590, 593 608 P.2d 125 ()980). Credibility determinations

are for the trier of fact and are not subject to review. State v. Camarillo,

115 Wn.2d 60, 71 94 P.2d 850 (1990).

In the present ease defendants Alandsom and Muasaa were each

charged with burglary in the first deg HCP 113 - -114 MCP 1-2. A.

person cornm burglary in the first degree if

1 ) .:. with intent to commit a crime against a person or
property therein, he or she enters or remains unlavfti in a
building and if, in entering or while in the building or in
immediate flight therefrom, the actor or another participant
in the crime (a) is armed with a deadly weapon, o (b)
assaults any person,

RCW 9A.52.020. The intent to commit a specific €aimed crime inside the

burglarized premises is not an "element " of the crime of burglary. Slate v:

Bergeron, 105 Wn.2d 1, 4,'711 .1 1000 (19185). T intent required' is

he intent to commit any crime against a person or propert inside the

burglarized premises. Jd, at 4, The jury may determine that defendant
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acted with intent to commit a crime against a person or budding by

making inferences "from the facts and circumstances surrounding the

commission of the act and from conduct which plainly indicates such

intent as a matter of logical probability." State if K - Uponen, 47 Wn. App,

9' 2, 919 P.M 10'24 (1987̀),

The jury was instructed that to convict defendants Handsom and

Muasau, respectively, of the crime of burglary in the first degree as

charged in Count 1, the following element-, had to be proved beyond as

reasonable doubt,

1) That on or about the 8"' day of August, 2010, the
defendant or an accomplice entered or remained
unlawfully in a building;

2) That the entering or
I

remaining was with intent to
it a crimCOMMA e against a person or property therein

3 )) That in so entering or while in the building or in
immediate flight from the building the defendant or
an accomplice in the crime charged was armed with
a deadly weapom and

4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of
Washington.

lAC-P1 MCP 41-71, Instruction # 8, The jury also received an

instruction on accomplice liability. FICP 175 205 MCP 41,-71,

Instruction #23.

TheState. need not show that the principal and accomplice share

the same mental state." State g Bockman, 37 Wn. App. 474, 491, 682
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P,2d 925 , review denied, 102 Wn,2d 1002 (1984), As long as the juror is

unanimous that the defendant was a participant, it is not necessary that the

jury be unanimous as to whether the defendant was a principal or an

accomplice where there is evidence of both manners of participation,

State t Carotbers, 84 Wn. 2d 256, 262, 525 12d 7 3 1 (' 974), o V. erruled on

tither grounds in .Stater v. Harris, 102 Wn.2d 148, 685 P.2d 584 (1984);

see also State v. Munden, 81 Wn. App. 192, 196, 913 1 421 (1996),

a, There was sufficient evidence to find defendant

Handsorn auikv of burdaxy in the first de iree,c -- — – – ------------------- – ... -- .... . .

There was sufficient evidence for the jury to find that defendant

Handsom was guilty of burglary in the first degree, Defendant Handsom

concedes that the State, established that Handsom entered or remained

unlawfully in the trailer and that he carried a deadly weapon, Brief of

Handsom, page 70 However, Handsorn argues that he did not :form an

intent to commit any other crime in addition to the unlawful entry. Brief

kof Mtndsom, page 7,

The State does not need to prove that Handsorn intended to cot nit

a specific named CrifflC inside the burglarized premises, but does need to.

prove that he intended to coninlit a crime against a person or property

inside the burglarized premises, State v. Bergeron, 105 Wn.2d 1, 4, 7 11

P,2d 1000 (1985 The State presented sufficient evidence. from which a
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rational trier of fact could infer "from the facts and circumstances

surrounding the commission of the act and from conduct which plainly

indicates such intent as a ma ter of logical probability" that Handsorn or an

accomplice entered or remained iinlawfully in Mr. Parrott's trailer with

intent to commit a crime. KiII)onen, 47 Wn. App. 912 at 919. Both.

circumstantial and direct evidence axe equally reliable. Lubers, 81 Wn.

App. 614 at 619.

First, Handsom was "dressed for war" when lie was arrested

shortly after breaking into Mr. Parrott's trailer home. 5 RP 404-. Handsom

was wearing a ski mask and a camouflage military style flak vest, 5 RP

404. Handsom's brother (defendant Smith) claimed that Handsom was

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